
REPUBLICOF THE PHILIPPINES
SANDIGANBAYAN

QUEZONCITY

THIRD DIVISION

PEOPLEOF THE PHILIPPINES,
Plaintiff,

CaseNo. SB-17-CRM-1729
For: Violation of Section3 (e)of
Republic Act No. 3019, as
amended

- versus-

Present:
REQUILLO SAMUYA Y
SUAYBAGUIO and
EDILBERTO L. APOSTOL,

Accused.
1[---------------------------------------1[

CABOTAJE-TANG,P.J.,
Chairperson
FERNANDEZ,B., J. and
MORENO,R,J.

Promulgated on: 0) A
~~~J1/)b

------------1[1[------------------------------------------------------------------

DECISION

CABOTAJE-TANG,P.J:

AccusedRequilloSamuyay Suaybaguioand Edilberto L.
Apostol are chargedwith violation of Section3 (e)of Republic
Act (R.A.) No. 3019, as amended, in an Information which
reads:

That between March to June 2004, or sometime
prior or subsequent thereto, in the Municipality of San
Isidro, Province of Bohol, Philippines, and within the
jurisdiction of this Honorable Court, accused REQUILLO
SAMUYA Y SUAYBAGUIO,a high ranking public officer,
being the Municipal Mayor of San Isidro, Bohol, while in
the performance of his official functions, committing the
-crime in relation to his office, and taking advantage o~
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official position, acting with manifest partiality, evident
bad faith, or gross inexcusable negligence, and in
conspiracy with EDILBERO L. APOSTOL (Apostol), a
private individual, did then and there willfully,
unlawfully, and criminally, give AKAME MARKETING
INTERNATIONAL (Akame), as represented by Apostol,
unwarranted benefits, privilege and advantage by
entering into a contract with Akame for the purchase of
812.5 kilos of NBEM-21 Microaid Activator for
PhP975,000.00 through direct contracting, without
complying first with the mandatory public bidding as
required under Republic Act No. 9184, as amended, and
its implementing rules and regulations, and without
conducting the necessary steps for the conduct of direct
contracting, as provided by the Manual of Proceduresfor
the Procurement of Goods and Services (Volume 2),
thereby causing undue injury to the Municipality of San
Isidro, Bohol, in the total amount of PhP975,000.00.

CONTRARYTOLAW.l

After a review"of the records of the case, the Court
promulgated its Resolution on October 5, 2017 finding
probable cause against accused Samuya and Apostol.
Accordingly, it issued a hold departure order and warrant of
'arrestagainst the saidaccused.P

The Crime Investigation and Detection Group of the
Philippine National Police(CIDG-PNP),Bureau of Immigration
(BID)and the National Bureau of Investigation(NBI)3received
accusedApostol'swarrant of arrest. However,the warrant of
arrest against accusedApostol remains unserved. Thus, he
remainsat-largeto this date.

On October 12, 2017, accusedSamuyapostedhis cash
bailbondforhisprOviS;Onalliber/7

1pp. 1-3, Record
2 pp. 126-127, Record

3 pp. 133-137, Record

4 pp. 130-132, Record
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Upon arraignment on November 24, 2017, accused
Samuyaentereda plea of not guilty." The Court directedthe
parties to appear before the Division Clerk of Court on
January 19, 24 and 25, 2018, all at 9 o'clockin the morning,
for the purpose of marking their exhibits and possible
stipulationsof fact. Thepre-trial wasset on January 26, 2018
at 1:30in the afternoon.>

In an Order datedJanuary 26, 2018, the Court granted
the prosecution and counsel of accusedSamuyaadditional
settings on February 27 and 28, 2018, within which to
concludethe pre-markingof their documentaryexhibits and
explorethe possibilityof havingajoint stipulationsof fact.The
pre-trlal wassetanewto March2, 2018.7

On March 22, 2018, the prosecution and accused
Samuya,through counsel,submittedtheir Joint Stipulations of
Fact, List of Exhibits and Witnesses. The Court admitted the
same in its Resolution adopted on April 2, 2018.8
Consequently,the Court issueda "Pre-Trial Order' datedApril
15,2018, consistentwith the saidJoint Stipulations of Fact.9

During the pre-trial, the prosecution and accused
Samuyastipulatedon the followingmatters:

1.Accused Samuya was the Municipal Mayor of the
Municipality of San Isidro, Bohol from June 1998 to
June 30,2007; and

2. He is the sameaccusednamedin the Information in
SB-17-CRM-172/,?

5 pp. 176-178, Record

6 ibid.
7 p. 189, Record

8 p. 217, Record

9 pp. 219-229, Record
lO·pp. 219-210, Record
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The prosecution presented the following witnesses:
(1) Ronald Allan D. Ramos.t! (2) Rosenda B. Cabang.P
(3) Trinidad A. Loquinte.Pand (4) LeonilaCanoQuiwag.!+

On September7, 2018, the prosecution filed its "Formal
Offer of Evidence" consistingof Exhibits "A" to "V" and "X" and
"Y," together with its sub-markings.t'' The said exhibits were
admitted by the Court in its Resolutionadoptedon September
24,2018.16

At the scheduled initial presentation of the defense's
evidence, counsel for accused Samuya manifested his
intention to file a Motionfor Leave to File Demurrer to Evidence.
Upon agreementof the parties, the Court no longer heard the
saidmotion. Instead, the prosecutionwasgivena periodof five
(5) days from receipt of a copy of the said motion to file its
comment/opposition after which the same will be deemed
submitted for resolution.17

On October 19,2018,accusedSamuya,through counsel,
filed a "Motion for Leave of Court to File Demurrer to
Euidence.w" On November13, 2018, the prosecution filed its
opposition thereto.t? In its Resolution adopted on November
14,2018, the Court deniedthe said motion without prejudice
to accused Samuya's right to file a demurrer to evidence
without leave of court.20

During the re-scheduled initial presentation of the
defense's evidence, the counsel for accused Samuya
manifestedthat he will presentevidenceinstead of pursuing a
demurrer to evidence.P!He presentedthe following witn~

11 p. 319, Record
12 p. 432, Record

13 p. 434, Record

14 p. 463, Record

15 pp. 468-538, Record

16p, 557, Record

17 p. 563, Record
18 pp. 568-580, Record

19 pp. 585-596, Record

20 pp. 602-603, Record ~

21 p. 7, Record, Vol.l! f '-I
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(1)accusedRequilloSamuyay Suaybaguio.v-and (2) Pefiaflor
Torralba.23

On January 25,2019, accusedSamuyafiled his "Formal
Offer of Evidence" consisting of Exhibits "1" to "11" with sub-
markings.s+After the prosecution filed its comment thereon,
the Court, in a Resolution adopted on February 18, 2019,
admitted the above-mentionedexhibits, togetherwith its sub-
markings.25

THE PROSECUTION'S EVIDENCE

The prosecution presentedRonaldAllan D. Ramosas its
first witness.

Ramos testified that he is a Graft Investigation and
ProsecutionOfficer I (GIPO)assignedat the Field Information
Officeof the Officeof the OmbudsmansinceOctober2011. As
a GIPO,his primary duties and responsibilitiesare: to conduct
fact-finding investigation and file the necessarycomplaints, if
warranted. He executed a Sworn Complaint (Exhibit A)
relative to this caseand identified his signature (Exhibit A-I)
thereon.Ramoslikewise identified the certified true copyof the
Memorandumof Agreementdated March 29, 2004 (Exhibit B)
and the Project Proposal (Exhibit C) which were attached to
his SwornComplaint.ss

The parties stipulated during Ramos' testimony that
"Exhibits D to Y" and their respectivesub-markings are the
samedocumentsattachedto his SwornComplaint.s?

On cross-examination,Ramostestified that on the face
of the documents marked as "Exhibits "M, M-I" and "M-2,"
which are certifications from the (i) Department of Trade and

~22 p. 12, Record, Vol. 11
23 p. 26, Record, Vol. 11
24 pp. 29-84, Record, vol. 11
2S p. 106, Record, Vol. 11
26 pp. 6-11, TSN,July 10, 2018
27 p, 11, TSN,July 10, 2018 1
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Industry (DTI)stating that Akameis an exclusivedistributor of
BYMenzymeproducts; (ii) BusinessPermit issued by the City
Government of Cagayan De Oro to Akame; and (ill) a
certification from J.P. BYM Food Mix Manufacturing and
Export certifying that Akame is the sole distributor of BYM
enzymeproducts, Akame is the sole distributor of the said
f rtilize 28e r.

On further cross-examination,Ramos testified that the
procurement of the subject fertilizer happenedduring the first
quarter of 2004. Around that time, no Bids and Awards
Committee(BAC)was createdbecausethe BACwas supposed
to be constituted at the last quarter of 2004.29

When confronted with "Exhibit P," which is the
Inspection and AcceptanceReport, Ramos testified that the
said document showsthat the purported goodsprocured were
the 812.50 kilos of N-BEM Soil Activator, Innoculant Soil
Actiuator» and the samewere deliveredto San Isidro, Bohol.
The samegoodswereverified and found "OK" and completeby
the municipal governmentof San Isidro, Boho1.31The subject
fertilizer waspaid in the amount of NineHundred Seventy-Five
Thousandpesos(Php975,000.00).32

Ramos clarified that their investigation on the subject
procurement was based on the official records submitted to
their office. The documents were officially gathered by the
Office of the Ombudsman through the issuance of various
subpoenas.33

On redirect-examination, Ramos testified that "Exhibit
M-2," which is the certification of TetsuoKamekawa,President
of J.P. BYM Food Mix Manufacturing and Export, is a falsity
because during the fact-finding investigation, the previous
investigators were able to secure another sworn statement
from Tetsuo Kamekawa that the "person stated herein,

/721 pp. 16-17, TSN,July 10, 2018
29 Pp. 18-21, TSN,July 10, 2018
30 pp. 7-8, TSN,July 24, 2018
31pp.21-22, TSN,July 10, 2018
32 p. 9, TSN,July 24, 2018
33 pp.9-10, TSN,July 24, 2018
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Edilberto Apostol, is not an exclusive distributor of J.P. BYM
NBM Food Mix Manufacturing" or Edilberto Ramos is not an
exclusivedistributor.>'

Theprosecutionnext presentedRosendaB. Cabang.

Cabang testified that she is a State Auditor IV of the
Commission on Audit (COA)with assignment in seven (7)
municipalities including the Local GovernmentUnit (LGU)of
San Isidro, Bohol. She is the team leader of the LGU of San
Isidro, Bohol. Her duties and responsibilities are to: conduct
audit, do auditing activities, prepare severalreports and acts
as custodian of documents of all their audit activities
including the LGUof SanIsidro, Boho1.35

She declared that she receiveda Subpoenadated July
18, 2018 to produce the documentsstated therein. However,
the required documents cannot be produced because they
were among the missing or destroyeddocuments during the
7.2 magnitude earthquake that hit Bohol on October 15,
2013.36 Sheknew of the said earthquakebecauseshewas in
Boholat that time.37

During Cabang's cross-examination, the parties
stipulated that Cabanghas no personal knowledgeas to the
contents and execution of the documents stated in the
SubpoenadatedJuly 18,2018.38

Theprosecutionthen presentedTrinidad A. Loquinte.

Loquinte testified that she is a retired employeeof the
COA. She identified her Judicial Affidavit dated August 7,
2018, with attachment, consisting of nine (9) pagesand her
signaturethereon~

34 p. 2, TSN,July 24, 2018
35 pp. 8-9, TSN,August 7,2018
36 pp. 9-12, TSN,August 7,2018
37 pp. 12-13, TSN,August 7, 2018
.38pp. 17-18, TSN,August 7, 2018
39 pp. 6-7, TSN,August 8,2018
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In her Judicial Affidavit, Loquinte declaredthat shewas
a State Auditor III of the COA from October 16, 1979 to
December31, 2012; shewasassignedas a team leaderin the
LGU of San Isidro, Bohol from 2003 to 2005; as such, her
duties consistedof the conductof an audit on the transactions
of San Isidro, Bohol, conduct of cash examination on the
accountabilityof accountableofficersand performother duties
assignedby her superior from time to time; she conductedan
audit on the disbursement of funds in the amount of Nine
Hundred Seventy-FiveThousand (Php975,OOO.00)for the
procurement of NBEM 21 Inoculant Soil Activator purportedly
received by San Isidro, Bohol from the Department of
Agriculture (DA) under the Farm/Inputs/Farm Implements,
Programand Priority DevelopmentFund (PPDF);and that the
said audit was under the regular audit conductedby her as
the teaIIl leader.40

Shefirst gatheredand evaluatedthe documentsrelevant
to the said disbursement of fund for the NBEM 21 Inoculant
Soil Activator and then interviewed concerned people.
Thereafter,she preparedan Audit ObservationMemorandum
(AOM)and then furnished the sameto accusedSamuya.v'

In the courseof her saidaudit, shegatheredthe following
documents:

Exhibit Description

"B" Memorandumof Agreementdated March
29, 2004 executed among the DA
Regional Field Unit VII, Office of the
CongressmanRobertoCajesand the LGU
of SanIsidro, Bohol

"C" Project Proposal with the title
"Sustainable Organic Agriculture
Programin RiceFarming"

40 pp. 881-384, Record

41 p. 384, Record
/7

~I
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"D" to "D-14" List of beneficiaryfarmers

"E" Resolution No. 40-A, series of 2004 of
the SanggunianBayanof SanIsidro

"F" Addendumto the Memorandum

"G" PurchaseRequestNo. IOdated march 4,
2004 on soil conditioner

"H" Allotment and Obligation Slip No. 04-04-
1363 dated April 6, 2004 amounting to
Php1,500,000.00

"I" Disbursement Voucher No. 101-2004-4-
1060 dated April 14, 2004 for
Php975,000.00

"J" CheckNo. 15965datedApril 15,2004 for
Php975,000.00

"J-l" Official ReceiptNo. 0714312 dated April
14,2004 for Php975,000.00

"K" Journal Entry Voucher No.04-4-1509
datedApril 30, 2004

"L" Purchase Order No. 46 dated April 19,
2004 for the purchase of NBEM 21
Inoculant Soil Activator amounting to
Php975,000.00

"M" DTI Certificate of Business Name
Registration of AKAME Marketing
International - CDOBranch

"N" Akame Marketing International Sales
Invoice No. 285 dated May 8, 2004
amounting to Php975,000.00

"0" Akame Marketing International Delivery
Receipt No. 797 dated May 8, 2004
amounting to Php975,000.00

--- --

~

~
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"P" Inspection and AcceptanceReport dated
June 15,2004

"Q" CheckNo. 5283735datedJune 15, 2004
amounting to Php936,000.00 issued to
AkameMarketing International

"R" Disbursement Voucher No. 300-0-06-03
dated June 1, 2004 amounting to
Php975,000.00

US" Akame Marketing International Official
Receipt No. 1001 dated June 15, 2004
amountingPhp975,000.00.42

Loquinte identified the aforesaiddocumentsas the same
documents she gathered and evaluatedduring the audit for
the disbursement of funds for the procurement of NBEM 21
Inoculant Soil Actiuator.es The results of her aforesaidaudit are
contained in AOM No. 2004-01 (Exhibit T) dated September
20, 2004, which she identified as the same AOM she
prepared.44

On cross-examination, Loquinte testified that she is
familiar with Republic Act (R.A.) No. 9184 and its
Implementing Rules and Regulations (IRRs) by attending
severalseminarson the subject; that it could havebeenmore
than five (5) times that she attended seminars on R.A. No.
9184 including its IRRs;4s that the employees of the
municipality of San Isidro, Bohol are required to attend
seminarson R.A.No. 9184 and its IRRs;46that in her AOMon
the subjectmatter, shemadea finding that NBEM 21 Inoculant
Soil Activator was procured without the benefit of a public
bidding contrary to Section 12 of R.A. No. 9185;47that when
she prepared the AOM, the product subject of procurement

42 pp. 385-387, Record
43 p. 387, Record
44 ibid.
4S pp. 9-11, TSN,August 8, 2018
46 pp. 12-13, TSN,August 8, 2018
47 pp. 14-15, TSN,August 8, 2018

/7
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was not completelydeliveredto San Isidro, Bohol; that she
made a request for documents pertaining to the said
procurementfor verificationbut most of the papersforwarded
to her were only photocopies;that the LGU of San Isidro,
Boholdid not complywith her requestfor original documents;
that shelikewisemadefindingson the AOMthat the purchase
requestshowedreferenceto brand namesuch as NYM-BYM-2,
a violation of Section18 of R.A.No. 9184; that procurement
through alternative method cannot be used without having
competitivebidding first; and, that competitivebidding must
first be conducted before the use of alternative method or
negotiatedprocurement.48

LeonilaCanoQuiwagtestifiedlast for the prosecution.

Shetestified on direct-examinationthrough her Judicial
AffidavitdatedAugust 18,2018.49

In her judicial affidavit, she declared that she is
connectedwith the LGUof SanIsidro, Bohol,as a bookkeeper
since 1992 up to the present; that she is assignedat the
MunicipalAccountingOfficeof SanIsidro, Bohol;that shewas
designatedas the municipal accountant of San Isidro from
2001 to 2005; that her duties and responsibilitiesconsist of
reviewingof documentssupporting the vouchersas to their
completenessand propriety, exercising general supervision
and control over the personnel assignedat the Municipal
AccountingOffice and performingother duties that may be
assigned,by her superiorfrom time to time; that in the course
of her being the municipal accountant,she encounteredthe
transaction on the purchase of NBEM 21 Inoculant Soil
Activator by San Isidro from AkameMarketing International;
that she reviewedDisbursementVoucher No. 300-04-06-03
datedJune 1, 2004 and its supportingdocumentspertaining
to the purchase of the said fertilizer; that she was able to
reviewthe following docume~

48 pp. 16-22, TSN,August 8, 2018
49 pp. 9-10, TSN,August 28, 2018

~
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Exhibit Description

"G" PurchaseRequestNo. 10 dated March 4,
2004 on soil conditioner

"L" Purchase Order No. 46 dated April 19,
2004 for the purchase of NBEM 21
Inoculant Soil Activator amounting to
Php975,000.00

"M" DTI Certificate of Business Name
Registration of AKAME Marketing
International- CDOBranch

"M-I" Business Permit No. 2004-800 issued to
AkameMarketing Internal- CDOBranch

"M-2" Certification of Mr. Tetsuo Kamekawa,
President/ Manufacturer of J.P. BYM
FoodMix Manufacturing and Export

"N" Akame Marketing International Sales
Invoice No. 285 dated May 8, 2004
amounting to Php975,00O.00

"0" Akame Marketing International Delivery
Receipt No. 797 dated May 8, 2004
amounting to Php975,000.00

"P" Inspection and AcceptanceReport dated
June 15,2004

"R" Disbursement Voucher No. 300-0-06-03
dated June 1, 2004 amounting to
Php975,000.00.50

Quiwagidentified Exhibits G, L, M to M-2, N, 0, P and R
as the samedocuments she reviewed;she also identified the
signature of accused Samuya in Exhibits G, L and R; she
testified that she is familiar with the signature of the said
accusedbeing her superior at that time; that in her reviewof

50 pp. 443-444, Record ~

~
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DisbursementVoucherNo.300-04-06-03datedJune 1,2004,
and its supportingdocuments,shenoticedthat the supporting
documentswere incomplete;that she made this observation
becausethe Abstract of Bid or Canvassand Award werenot
attached to the said disbursementvoucher; that she did not
affix her signatureon the saiddisbursementvoucherto certify
as to the completenessand propriety of the supporting
documents; that she returned the subject disbursement
voucher with supporting documents to RomeoP. Torralba,
Municipal AgrarianOfficer (MAO),with the adviceto complete
the supportingdocuments;and, that Torralbadid not respond
. to her advice.51

On cross-examination,Quiwagtestified that her official
position is bookkeeperbut she was designatedas municipal
accountant temporarily since the position was vacant then;
that her designation as such was official; that as a
bookkeeper,she attendeda seminar on R.A. No. 9184 only
once;that she is awarethat the BACof SanIsidro, Bohol,was
formed only on March 22, 2004; that she knows a certain
FiloteoAsoybecausehe is a memberof the BAC; that she is
not aware that Filoteo Asoy was designated by accused
Samuyaas the procurementofficerof San Isidro, Bohol; that
shemadeknownof her concernabout the lacking requirement
of the Abstract of Bids and/or Canvassas attachment to the
subjectdisbursementvoucherto Torralbawho did not comply
with her request; and, that she did not inform accused
Samuyaof the said lackingrequirement.52

During the hearingon August 28, 2018, the prosecution
informed the Court that it was through with the presentation
of its evidence.Theprosecutionwasthus givena periodof ten
(10)daysfrom the saiddatewithin which to file its formal offer
of evidence.Thedefensewas likewisegiventhe sameperiodto
comment thereon after which, the same would be deemed
submitted for reSOlUtiOn~

51 pp. 441-447, Record }4
52 pp. 11-15, TSN,August 28, 2018 /' 0
53 p. 463, Record
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Thereafter, the prosecution offered the following
documentaryevidence,to wit:

Exhibit I Description

Signatureof RonaldAllan D. Ramos

"A" I Complaint dated November15, 2012 of Ronald
Allan D. Ramos, Graft Investigation and
ProsecutionOfficer I, Officeof the Ombudsman-

"A-I" 1 FIO, consistingof eleven(11)pages

Purpose: 11. To prove that the Field InvestigationOfficeof
the Office of the Ombudsman conducted fact-
finding investigation, among others on the
procurement of 812.5 kilos of soil conditioner
(NBM-21 Micro Aid activator worth
P975,000.00);

"B" I Memorandum of Agreement dated March 29,
2004 executedamong the DA Regional Field
Unit VII, Officeof the 2ndDistrict Representative,
and the LGUof San Isidro, consisting of two (2)
pages

"C" I Proiect Proposalpreparedby RomeoP.Torralba,

2. To prove that as a result of the fact-finding
investigation, the FIO found out that: (a) no
competitivepubic bidding was conducted in the
procurement of 812.5 kilos of soil conditioner
(NBM-21-MicroAid activatorworth P975,000.00,
in violation of Republic Act No. 9184; and (b)
Supplier Akame Marketing International is not
the sole Philippine exclusive distributor of the
said soil conditioner;

3. To provethat the accusedRequilloS. Samuya
and Romeo P. Torralba gave unwarranted
benefits or advantage to supplier Akame
Marketing International for purchasing from the
latter for LGU-San Isidro the said soil
conditioner without undergoing competitive
public bidding.

~/?I
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Municipal Agriculture Officer of San Isidro,
Bohol re: Sustainable Organic Agriculture
Program in Rice Farming, consisting of fifteen
(15)pages

"D" to "D- List of Farmers in Barangay Poblacion, San
14" Isidro, Boholwhowill avail the OrganicFarming

Program,consistingof fifteen (15)pages
"E" ResolutionNo. 40-A, seriesof 2004 authorizing

Municipal Mayor Requillo Samuyato enter into
Memorandum of Agreement with the
Department of Agriculture, RegionalField Unit
VII approvedby the SanggunianBayan of San
Isidro, Bohol, consistingof two (2)pages

"F" Addedum to the Memorandum of Agreement
markedasExhibit B, consistingof two (2)pages

"G" PurchaseRequestNo. 10 dated march 4, 2004
on soil conditioner

"H" Allotment and Obligation Slip No. 04-04-1363
dated April 6, 2004 amounting to
Php1,500,000.00

"I" Disbursement Voucher No. 101-2004-4-1060
datedApril 14,2004 for Php975,00O.00

"J" Check No. 15965 dated April 15, 2004 for
Php975,000.00

"J-1" Official Receipt No. 0714312 dated April 14,
2004 for Php975,000.00

"K" Journal Entry Voucher No.04-4-1509 dated
April 30, 2004

"U" LBPCheckNo.0000255523datedDecember29,
2004 amounting to Php450,000.00 issued to
Municipality of SanIsidro, Bohol

"V" Financial and PhysicalAccomplishmentReport-
Farm Inputs/Farm Implements Program as of
September30, 2005

"X" Certification date October 11, 2006 issued by
OIC RegionalAccountant Evelyn Romarate nd
Budget and FinanceDivision OIC-ChiefAngelC.
Enriquez,both of DARRegionVII

Purposeof 1. To prove the transfer of funds in the net
Exh. B to amount of Php975, out of Phpl,500,OOOfrom
F, H to K the Department of Agriculture Regional Field

~
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and U to Unit VII to LGU San Isidro in connection with
V, and X the project entitled "Sustainable Organic
and Agriculture Program in Rice Farming" to be
respective implementedby LGUSan Isidro;
sub-
markings: 2. To prove that the remammg amount of

Php525,000.00 was reverted back to the
National Treasury as certified by the DA
RegionalField Unit No.VII54

"M" DTI Certificate of BusinessNameRegistrationof
AKAMEMarketing International - CDOBranch

"M-I" Business Permit No. 2004-800 issued to Akame
Marketing Internal - CDOBranch

"M-2" Certificate of Product Registration dated April 6,
2006 issuedby Fertilizer and PesticideAuthority
issued to J.P. BYM Food Mix Manufacturing &
Export

"Y to Y-3" Sworn Statement of Tetsuo Kamekawa dated
October3,2006, consistingof four (4)pages

Purposeof 1. To prove that while Akame Marketing
Exh. M to International appears to be registered with the
M-3 and Department of Trade and Industry, it is not not
V-toY-3 exclusive distributor of BYM NBM 21 Micro Aid

Activator. Tetsuo Shitazu Kamekawa, President
of J .P.BYMFoodMix Manufacturing and Export
("BYMCompany"),in his Sworn Statementdated
October 3, 200655 recanted from his,
Certificationee and claimed that Akame
Marketing International IS not an exclusive
distributor of BYMCompany;

"G" Purchase RequestNo. 10 dated March 4, 2004
on soil conditioner

"L" Purchase Order No. 46 dated April 19, 2004
amounting to Php975,000.00

"N" AkameMarketing International SalesInvoiceNo.
285 dated May 8, 2004 amounting to
Php975,000.00

"0" Akame Marketing International Delivery Receipt

S4 Exhibit X
55 Exhibit Y to Y-3
56 Exhibit M-2 o

~
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No. 797 dated May 8, 2004 amounting to
Php975,000.00

"P" I Inspection and AcceptanceReport dated June
15,2004

"Q" I Check No. 5283735 dated June 15, 2004
amounting Php936,000.00 issued to Akame
MarketingInternational

"R" I Disbursement Voucher No. 300-0-06-03 dated
June 1,2004amountingto Php975,OOO.OO

"S" I Akame Marketing International Official Receipt
No. 1001 dated June 15, 2004 amounting
P975,000.00

Purposeof 1. To prove the purchaseof NBM-21 Micro Aid
Exh. G, L, Activator worth Php975,000.00by the LGUSan
and N to S Isidro from Akame Marketing International

without competitivepublic bidding;

2. To prove that prosecutionwitness LeonilaC.
Quiwag,the designatedMunicipal Accountantof
LGU San Isidro, did not affix her signature in
the (a)disbursement; and (b)purchaseorder to
certify on the availabilityof funds;

3. To prove the releaseof public funds in the
amount of Php975,000.00 in favor of Akame
marketing International to the damage and
injury of the government;

4. To prove that accused Requillo S. Samuya
approved the purchase of NBM-21 Micro Aid
activator despite (a) the absenceof competitive
bidding; and (b) the lack of signature of
designated Municipal Accountant Leonila C.
Quiwag in the (a) Purchase Order; and (b)
DisbursementVoucher;

"T" IAudit ObservationMemorandumNo. 2004-001
datedSeptember20, 2004 preparedby Trinidad
A. Loquinte, State Auditor In, COACluster IV-
Visayas Local Government Sector, Tagbilaran,
Bohol

Purpose: I 1.Toprovethat an audit wasconductedby COA

~

~
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State Auditor Trinidad A. Loquinte on the
purchase of NBN-21 Micro Aid activator worth
Php975,000.00 by the LGU San Isidro from
AkameMarketing International;

2. To prove that as a result of the audit, State
Auditor Loquinte found the following, among
others:

a. PurchaseRequestshowedreferenceto brand
namesin violation of Section18of RA9184

b. No award was madeby the BAC in violation
of RA9184;

c. No BAC Certification issued that no suitable
substitute can be obtained at more
advantageousterms to the government;and

d. No signature of Municipal Accountant in the
disbursementvoucherand purchaseorder.s?

In its Resolution adopted on September24, 2018, the
Court admitted the above-enumerated exhibits of the
prosecution.58

THE DEFENSE EVIDENCE

The defensepresentedaccusedRequilloS. Samuyaas its
first witness.

He testified on direct examination through his Judicial
Affidavit datedOctober5, 2018.59

In his judicial affidavit, accusedSamuyadeclaredthat he
was the mayor of the municipality of San Isidro, Bohol for
three (3) consecutiveterms, from 1998 to 2007. As the mayor
of the said municipality, his duties were to advance and
protect the generalwelfareof his constituents. Thus, he, and

o
¥-\

57 pp. 468-473, Record
sap. 557, Record
59 pp. 5-6, TSN, January 9, 2019
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the Sangguniang Bayan (SB), implemented programs that
would improve the living condition of their constituents. One
of the programs they implementedwas the Farm Inputs and
Farm Implements Program (Program). The Program aimedto aid
the farmers in the different parts of the country by providing
them with fertilizers or soil conditioners. Before the
implementation of the said Program, the Office of the
Representativeof the SecondDistrict of Bohol informed him
sometime in February 2004 that San Isidro was one of the
beneficiariesof the said Program of the DA consideringthat it
has a considerablenumber of farmers. Thus, on March 03,
2004, the SB of San Isidro passeda Resolutions?authorizing
him to enter into a Memorandumof Agreements! (MOA)with
the DA- RegionalField Unit VII (DA-RFUVII) and the Officeof
the Representativeof the SecondDistrict of Bohol. The DA,
the Officeof the Representativeof the SecondDistrict of Bohol
and accusedSamuya subsequentlyexecutedan Addendum=
to the MOA in order to conform to the existing auditing and
accountingrules and regulationsof the DA.63

AccusedSamuyafurther declaredthat at the time of the
implementationof the Program,the BACof SanIsidro hadjust
been organized. Considering that San Isidro is a fifth-class
municipality located in a remote area, it took longer than
usual for the representativesof the Departmentof Budgetand
Management (DBM) to conduct the orientation of the BAC
memberson R.A.No. 9184 and its IRRs.It was only sometime
in March 2004 when the DBM introduced to them the said law
and its IRRs.Thus, their BACwas not yet functioning then as
evidencedby Executive Order No. 01-2004 dated March 22,
200464issuedby him.v>

Accused Samuya explained that since the BAC of San
Isidro'wasnot yet functioning then, in the exigencyof service,
he officially designatedFiloteoAsoy as procurement officer of
the Program, through Office Order No. 03-2004 dated March

60 Exhibit 1 at p. 622, Record
61 Exhibit 2 at pp. 623-624, Record

62 Exhibit 2-A at pp. 625-626, Record

63 pp. 610-613, Record

64 Exhibit 3 at p. 627-628, Record

65 p. 613, Record
~
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30, 2004,66 being then the Municipal Planning and
DevelopmentOfficer (MPDO)of San Isidro and a memberof
the newly formedBAC.Asoythen preparedand facilitated the
procurementprocessof the Program.67

After he designatedAsoyas procurementofficer, he was
informed by Asoy that he receivedfrom Akame Marketing
International, through its sole proprietor, his eo-accused
Edilberto L. Apostol, certified true copies of the following
documents:

a. DTI registration showing that Akame is registered
under Apostol'snamer=

b. Application with DTI as ExclusiveDistributor of BYM
EnzymeProducte.s?

c. Business Permit issued by the City Governmentof
Cagayan De Oro, showing that it is the exclusive
distributor or trader of BYM Enzyme Products.tv

d. Certification issued by J.P. BYM Food Mix
Manufacturing and Expert, signed by its
President/ Manufacturer Tetsuo Kamekawa, stating
that Akameis the solePhilippinesexclusivedistributor
of BYM NBM 21 Enzyme Products (soil conditioner)to
all the provincesof Luzon, Visayas and Mindanao;"!
and

e. Authentication Certificate issued by Notary Public
Atty. MarioT. .Juni.I?showingthat the said documents
werefaithful reproductionsof their originals.t-

~

66 Exhibit 4 at p. 629, Record
67 p. 613, Record
68 Exhibit 5 at p. 630, Record
69 Exhibit 5-A at p. 631, Record
70 Exhibit 5-8 at p. 632, Record

71 Exhibit 5-( at p. 633, Record
72 Exhibit 5-0 at p. 634, Record

73 pp. 614-615, Record

f\



Decision
CaseNo. SB-17-CRM-1729
Peoplevs. Samuya and Apostol

-21-

x--- ----- ---------------------------------x

Accused Samuya further declared that he relied on
Asoy's certification regarding the authenticity of the
documents submitted by Akame. He assumed in good faith
that Asoyproperly reviewedthe said documentsand gathered
background information on the said supplier. In fact, he
learnedthat Akamewasalsothe supplier of soil conditionerin
other towns which were recipients of the funding of the said
Program. The DA-RFUVII and the Officeof the Representative
of the SecondDistrict of Bohol recommendedAkame as the
qualifiedsupplierfor the Municipality of SanIsidro.?+

Helikewiseaverredin his judicial affidavit that afterAsoy
found Akameas qualified supplier and the soleand exclusive
distributor of the subject soil, he recommended direct
contracting as the method of procurement, as shown by the
Certification dated April 5, 2004,75issued by Asoy which he
approved. He relied in good faith based on the
recommendationmade by Asoy and by the DA-RFUVII and
the Officeof the RepresentativeCajes.?>

Accused Samuya further declared that while Akame
submittedonly certifiedtrue copiesof the documentsrequired,
it was still chosen as the supplier of the subject products
becausethe documentswere certified as true copies of the
originalsby a notary public who is allowedby law to issue the
saidcertification.77

Upon approvalof the recommendationmadeby Asoyfor
the procurement of the said products from Akame through
direct contracting,Akamedeliveredthe 812.50 kilos of NBEM-
21 Microaid Activator or soil conditionerto SanIsidro as shown
by paragraph 3 of page3 of the Resolutiondated December
06, 201678 of the Office of the Ombudsman. The said soil
conditioner was receivedand acceptedby ReginaAstronomo,
who inspected the products and found them "ok" as to the
quantity and specificationmadeby Torralba.This can be seen

o
1

74 p. 615, Record

75 Exhibit 6 at p. 635, Record

76 p. 616, Record

77 pp. 616-617, Record

78 Exhibit 8-8-A at p. 649, Record
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from the Inspection and AcceptanceReport dated June 15,
2004.79After the deliveryof the saidproducts,he approvedthe
paymentto Akameand then distributed the soil conditionerto
the intended beneficiariesin the different barangaysof San
Isidro, namely: Balyong, Daan, Cabanugan, Causawagan,
Baunos, Cansague, Poblacion, Gambansag, Caimbang,
Candungao,Abelihanand Masonoy.s?

Yearsafter the said Program was implemented,accused
Samuyawas surprised to find out that he was chargedwith a
violation of the Anti-Graft and Corrupt PracticesAct beforethe
Office of the Ombudsman. Thus, he executed a Counter-
Affidavit datedJune 4, 2013, denyingany participation in the
commissionof the subjectoffense.s!

Accused Samuya also declared that some of the
documents attached to his judicial affidavit are photocopies
becausethe originals of the said documentswere destroyed
due to the earthquakethat hit Boholin October2013.82

On cross-examination,accusedSamuyatestified that the
subject transaction happenedduring his secondterm of office
as the mayor of San Isidro, Bohol in 2004. He confrrmedthat
the procurement of NBEM-21 Microaid Activator was done
without public bidding because the BAC was not yet
functioning at that time. In lieu of the BAC, he designated
Asoyas procurementofficerwho did the procurementactivity
for the implementationof the MOAand the Addendum.Since
there was no BAC,there was no certification from the BACto
show that a suitable substitute can be obtained at a more
advantageousturn to the government.The accusedadmitted
that he appliedthe methodof direct contractingin purchasing
the subject soil conditioner. The proper procurement
procedure such as publication of invitation to bid was no
longer observedbecausehe relied on the recommendationof

/?
79 Exhibit 9 at p. 665, Record
80 Exhibits 7 to 7-Jat pp. 637-646, Record; p. 618, Record
81 Exhibits 10-10-A at pp. 666-668, Record
82 p. 619, Record; p. 4, TSN,January 10, 2019
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Asoy to directly purchase the soil from Akame International
Marketing.83

Accused Samuya further testified that the purchased
item has a brand name, "BYM NBM 21 Microaid Activator."
When they purchased the said soil conditioner, he did not
obtain any opinion from the auditor assigned in their
municipality whether the same can be procured without
passing through the BAC. He signed the disbursement
voucher for the procurement of the said product
notwithstanding that the municipal accountant did not affix
her signature thereon becausehe did not examinethe said
document.84

On re-directexamination,accusedSamuyaadmittedthat
he relied on Asoy,the MPDOof SanIsidro, whenhe approved
the procurementof the subjectsoil activatorssinceAsoywasa
memberof the newly-organizedBAC. Moreover,Asoywas the
longtime MPDO having worked as such even before the
accused's term as the mayor. He was designated as
procurementofficerbecauseof his ability and experience.s"

Thedefensethen presentedPenaflorTorralba.

Torralbaalso testifiedon direct examinationthrough her
Judicial Affidavit datedJanuary 8,2019.86

She declared that she was assigned as the General
ServicesOfficer (GSO)of San Isidro, Bohol for six (6) years.
She started to work as such in April 2004 as shown by her
appointmentpaper.s?As GSO,sheprovidedassistanceto the
daily work and dealingsof the local governmentof SanIsidro,
Bohol. She was also assignedas inspection officer of San
Isidro. As inspection officer, shewas tasked to inspect goods
and products that weredeliveredto said municipality. In one
of her inspectionactivities, she rememberedhaving inspected

~83 pp. 58,TSN, January 10, 2019
84 pp. 9-10,TSN, January 10, 2019
85 p. 13,TSN, January 10, 2019
86 Exhibit 11 at pp. 15-19,Record; Vol. 11;pp. 16-17,TSN, January 10,2019
87 Exhibit 11 at p. 82, Record, Vol. 11

~
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bagsof soil activators deliveredto San Isidro in 2004. These
werethe fertilizerscalledNBEM-21 Microaid Activator delivered
by Akame Marketing International. It was the DA which
requestedfor the inspection of the said fertilizers. After she
inspectedthe products, shefound them to be acceptableas to
the quantities and specificationsand issuedan Inspection and
AcceptanceReport datedJune 15,2004.88After the inspection,
the fertilizers were distributed to the farmer-beneficiariesin
each of the twelve (12) barangaysof San Isidro which used
them. It yieldedgoodharvestfor the farmers.89

Torralba declaredthat her appointment paper and the
Inspection and Acceptance Report were only photocopies
becausethe originalsof the saiddocumentscouldno longerbe
located despite diligent efforts since these documents were
stored in the municipal building which was destroyedby the
strongmagnitudeearthquakethat hit Boholin 2013.90

AccusedSamuya,through counsel,offeredthe following
documentaryevidencein his Formal Offer of Evidence dated
January 25,2019, to wit:

"2" I Memorandum of
Agreement("MOA")dated
29 March2004, signed
by the Municipality of

Description PurposeExhibit
"1" Resolution No. 40-A of

the SangguniangBayan
of the Municipality of
San Isidro passedon 03
march 2004

To provethat RequilloS.
Samuya, as Municipal
Mayor, was authorized
to enter into a
Memorandum of
Agreement with the
Department of
Agriculture - Regional
Field Unit VII ("DA-RFU
VII1

88 Exhibit 9 at p. 78, Record, Vol. 11
89 pp. 17-18, Record; Vol. 11
90 p. 18, Record; Vol. 11
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San Isidro, as
represented by Requillo
S. Samuya, DA-RFUVII,
as represented by
Regional Executive
Director Eduardo B.
Leciones, Jr. and the
Office of the
Representative of the
SecondDistrict of Bohol,
as represented by
representative Roberto
C. Caies

"2-A" Addendum to the
Memorandum of
Agreement dated 29
March 2004, signed by
the Municipality of San
Isidro as representedby
Requillo S. Samuya,DA-
RFU VII, as represented
by Regional Executive
Director Eduardo B.
Leciones, Jr. and the
Office of the
Representative of the
SecondDistrict of Bohol,
as represented by
representative Roberto
C. Caies

"3" Executive Order No. 01-
2004 dated 22 March
2004

Toprovethe following:

1. The Bids and Awards
Committee (BAC) of the
Municipality of San
Isidro had just been
organized at the time of
the implementation of
the Farm Inputs and
Farm Implements
Program("program");

~
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"4" I OfficeOrderNo.03-2004 I Toprovethe following:
dated30 March 2004

2. Considering that the
members of BAC were
still being oriented on
the Implementing Rules
and Regulations of
Republic Act No. 9184,
the BAC was not yet
functional during the
implementation of the
program.

1. FiloteoP.Asoy("Asoy ]
was designated as
Procurement Officer of
program;

2. As the Procurement
Officer,Asoypreparedall
the necessary
documents and
facilitated the
procurement process of
the program.

"5"

"5-B" Business Permit issued I Toprovethe following:
to Akame by the City
Government of Cagayan
DeOro

Akame'sapplicationwith
the DTI as exclusive
distributor of BYM
EnzymeProducts

Toprovethe following:

1. Akame is the
exclusive distributor of
BYMEnzymeProducts;

2. Akame complied with
the documentary
requirements of the
program.

1. Akame is the
exclusive distributor
and/ or trader of BYM
EnzymeProducts;

~/7



Decision
CaseNo. SB-17-CRM-1729
Peoplevs. Samuya and Apostol

-27-

x-- ------ ---------------------------------x

"5-C" I Certification issued by IToprovethe following:
J.P. BYM Food Mix
Manufacturing and 1. Akame, as
Export signed by its representedby Edilberto
President/Manufacturer, L. Apostol, is the sole
TetsuoKamekawa Philippines exclusive

distributor of BYM NBM
21 Enzyme Products,
namely, BYM NBM 21
MicroaidActivator;

2. Akame complied with
the documentary
requirements of the
program.

2. Akame complied with
the documentary
requirements of the
program.

"6" I Certification dated April I Toprovethe following:
5, 2004 issued by the
Procurement Officer, 1. Asoy received and
FiloteoAsoy verified the documents

submitted by Akame;

"5-D" Toprovethe following:Authentication
Certificate issued by the
NotaryPublic 1. The foregoing

documents submitted by
Akame were faithful
reproductions of the
original;

2. Akame complied with
the documentary
requirements of the
program.

2. Asoy confirmed that
Akame is a qualified
supplier and is the sole

~
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and exclusivedistributor
of NBM-21soil activator;

3. Asoy recommended
direct contracting as the
appropriate method of
procurement;and

4. Direct contractingwas
permitted and
authorized under the
circumstances.

"7" List of recipients of
NBM-21 soil activator at
Balyong Daan, San
Isidro, Bohol

To prove that the NBM-
21 soil activators were
deliveredand distributed
to their intended
beneficiaries in the
various barangaysof the
Municipality of San
Isidro

"7-A" List of recipients of
NBM-21 soil activator at
Cabanugan, San Isidro,
Bohol

same

"7-B" List of recipients of
NBM-21 soil activator at
Causwagan Sur, San
Isidro, Bohol

same

"7-C" List of recipients of
NBM-21 soil activator at
Baunos, San Isidro,
Bohol

same

"7-D" List of recipients of
NBM-21 soil activator at
Cansague Sur, San
Isidro, Bohol

same

"7-E" List of recipients of
NBM-21 soil activator at
Poblacion, San Isidro,
Bohol

same

"7-F" List of recipients of same
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NBM-21 soil activator at
Gambansag,San Isidro,
Bohol

same"7-G" List of recipients of
NBM-21 soil activator at
Caimbang, San Isidro,
Bohol

"7-H" List of recipients of
NBM-21 soil activator at
Candungao, San Isidro,
Bohol

same

"7-1" List of recipients of
NBM-21 soil activator at
Abelihan, San Isidro,
Bohol

same

"8-A" I Third paragraphon pageI same
three (3) of the
Resolution issued by the
Office of the
Ombudsman dated 06
December2016

"9" I Inspection and To prove that, after
AcceptanceReportdated receipt of the NBM-21
15June 2004 soil activators by the

PropertyOfficer, the ame
were found to be
acceptableas to quantity
and specification by
PenaflorTorralba

"7-J"

"8"

List of recipients of
NBM-21 soil activator at
Masanoy, San Isidro,
Bohol
Resolution issued by the
Office of the
Ombudsman dated 06
December2016

same

To prove that the NBM-
21 soil activators were
actually delivered and
distributed to the
Municipality of San
Isidro, Bohol on 08 May
2004

"10" . I Counter-Affidavit of I To prove the existence
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Requillo Samuya dated
04 June 2013, which
was submitted to the
Officeof Ombudsmanfor
the case docketed as
OMB-C-C-13-0036

"11" Memorandum No. 17-
2004 dated 01 April
2004

and due execution of
said Counter-Affidavit

To prove that, effective
01 April 2004, Peftaflor
Torralba was designated
as General Services
Officer of the
Municipality of San
Isidro, Bohol

In its Resolution adopted on February 18, 2019, the
Court admitted Exhibits "1" to "11," together with their sub-
markings.v!

THE RULING OF THE COURT

I. The offense chargedagainst the
accusedand its elements.
--------------------------------------------------------

Accused Samuya, together with accused Apostol, is
chargedwith a violation of Section3 (e)of R.A. No. 3019, as
amended,which reads:

Sec. 3. Corruptpractices of public officers. - In
addition to acts or omissions of public officers already
penalized by existing law, the following shall
constitute corrupt practices of any public officer and
areherebydeclaredto be unlaW/7

!r91 p. 106, Record, Vol. 11
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e. Causingundue injury to any party, including the
Government or giving any private party any
unwarranted benefits, advantage or preferencein the
discharge of his official, administrative or judicial
functions through manifestpartiality, evident bad faith
or gross inexcusable negligence.This provision shall
apply to officersand employeesof officesof government
corporations charged with the grant of licenses or
permit or otherconcessions.

To sustain a conviction for violation of Section3 (e)of R.A.
No. 3019, the prosecution must prove the existenceof all the
following elements:

1. The accused must be a public officer
discharging administrative, judicial or official
functions;

2. He must have acted with manifestpartiality,
evidentbadfaith or inexcusablenegligence;and,

3. That his action caused undue injury to any
party, including the government,or gave any private
party unwarranted benefits,advantageor preference
in the dischargeof hisfunctions.92

11. The prosecution evidence
establish the presenceof all
the elements of the crime
charged.
------------------------------------------------

The Court finds that the prosecution sufficiently proved
the presence of all the aforesaid elements of the offense
chargedin this case. ~ f
"Consigna v. People. Sandiganbayan (ThiedDiV7~ Moleta, 720 SCRA350 (2014)
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First. The parties stipulated during the pre-trlal that
accusedSamuyawas the Municipal Mayorof the Municipality
of San Isidro, Bohol from 1998 to 2007. He again admitted
this fact in his Judicial Affidavit datedOctober5, 201893 and
during his cross-examination.v-

Second. The second element provides the different
modesby which a crime may be committed; that is, through
manifest partiality, evident bad faith or gross inexcusable
negligence.

In order to determine whether any of these
circumstancesattendsa case,the followingparametersshould
beconsidered:

There is "manifestpartiality" when there is a
clear, notorious or plain inclination or predilection to
favor oneside orperson rather than another. "Evident
bad faith" connotesnot only bad judgment but also
palpably and patently fraudulent and dishonest
purpose to do moralobliquity or consciouswrongdoing
for someperverse motiveor ill will. It contemplatesa
state of mind affirmatively operating with furtive
designor with somemotiveor self-interestor ill-will or
for ulterior purposes. "Gross inexcusablenegligence"
refers to negligencecharacterizedby want of even
slightest care, acting or omitting to act, not
inadvertently but willfully and intentionally, with
conscious indifference to consequencesinsofar as
otherpersonsmay be affected.95

Here,the Informationallegesthat accusedSamuyaacted
with evident bad faith and manifest partiality when he
approvedthe procurement of 812.5 kilos NBEM-21Microaid
Activatoramounting to Php975,000.00from AkameMarketing
International (Akame),representedby his eo-accusedApostol,
through directing contracting,without (1) first conductingthe
requisite public bidding as requiredby R.A.No. 9184 and its

-:
~

93 at p. 611, Record, Vol. I

94 p. 6, TSN, January 10, 2019

95 People v. Atienza, 673 SCRA470 (2012); People v. Uriarte, 511 SCRA471 (2006)
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IRRsand (2)observingthe necessarystepsfor the conductof
direct contracting, as providedby the Manual of Procedures
for the Procurementof Goodsand Services(Volume2). In
doing so, he gave unwarranted benefit, privilege and
advantageby entering into a contract with Akame for the
procurementof the said goodswhich causedundue injury to
theMunicipality of SanIsidro,Bohol.96

In the awardof governmentcontracts,the law requiresa
competitive bidding. A competitive public bidding aims to
protectpublic interestby givingit the bestpossibleadvantages
through opencompetition.It is preciselythe mechanismthat
enablesthe governmentagencyto avoidor precludeanomalies
in the executionof public contracts.97 Strict observanceof the
rules, regulations,and guidelinesof the bidding processis the
only safeguard to a fair, honest and competitive public
bidding.vs

To be sure, the requirementof public bidding is not an
idle ceremony.It has beenaptly said that in our jurisdiction,
"pubic bidding is the policy and medium adhered to in
Governmentprocurement and construction contracts under
existing laws and regulations. It is the acceptedmethod for
arriving at a fair and reasonableprice and ensures that
overpricing, favoritism and other anomalous practices are
eliminated or minimized. Any governmentcontract entered
into without the requiredbidding is null and void and cannot
adverselyaffectthe rights of third parties."99

In this case,the testimonialanddocumentaryevidenceof
the prosecutionprovethat therewasno public bidding before
accusedSamuyaapprovedthe procurement for the subject
soil activator from Akamethrough direct contrac~

" Office o!the Ornbudsman-Mindanao v. Martel, 819 SCRA131 (2017), citing Alva::!:l.oPl<I. 653 SCRA
52 (2011)

98Office of the Ombudsman-Mindanao v. Martel, supra

99 Tatad v. Garcia, Jr., 243 SCRA436 (1995), citing Bartolome C. Fernandez, Jr., A Treatise on Government

Contracts under Philippine Law [rev. ed. 1991], citing Caltex v. Delgado bros., 96 Phil. 368 (1954)
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To begin with, prosecutionwitness Ramostestified that
the procurementof the subject fertilizer happenedduring the
first quarter of 2004. Around that time, no BACwas created
becausethe BACwas supposedto be constituted only at the
last quarter of 2004.100

Another prosecutionwitness, retired State Auditor III of
the COA, Loquinte, testified that her findings on the
procurementof the NBEM 21 Inoculant Soil Activator was that
the samewasprocuredwithout the benefitof a public bidding
contrary to Section 12 of R.A.No. 9184. Her AOMIOlon the
matter reflects the absence of public bidding for the
procurementof the subjectfertilizer.102

Lastly, prosecutionwitnessQuiwaglikewisetestifiedthat
being then the assignedmunicipal accountantof San Isidro,
Bohol, she discovered that there was no public bidding
conductedon the purchaseofNBEM 21 Inoculant Soil Activator
by SanIsidro from Akame. Shemadethe discoverywhen she
reviewedDisbursementVoucherNo.300-04-06-03datedJune
1, 2004103 and its supporting documentspertaining to the
purchase of the said fertilizer.104 She noticed that the
supporting documents of the said procurement were
incompletebecausethe Abstractof Bid or CanvassandAward
were not attached to the said disbursementvoucher. Thus,
she did not affix her signature thereon to certify as to the
completenessand proprietyof the supportingdocuments.She
returned the subject disbursement voucher to Romeo P.
Torralba,Municipal AgrarianOfficer(MAO),with the adviceto
complete the supporting documents.However,Torralba did
not respondto her advice.J'"

Indeed,accusedSamuyahimselfadmittedthat no public
bidding was conducted for the procurement of the subject
fertilizer becausethe BAC was not yet constituted at that

100 pp. 18-21, TSN,July 10, 2018
101 Exhibit T at p. 536, Record
102 pp. 14-15, TSN,August 8, 2018
103 Exhibit Rat p. 371, Record
104 pp. 442-445, Record
105 pp. 441-447, Record
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time;106 and that he merelyrelied on the recommendationof
Asoyto evadecriminal responsibility.

It must be stressed however, that even prior to the
effectivityof R.A.No.9184 and its IRRs,the local government
units were already mandatedby R.A. No. 7160 (The Local
GovernmentCodeof 1991),which took effecton October10,
1991to conduct pubic bidding in their procurementof goods
and services.Section 369 thereof provided that negotiated
purchasemay be resortedto wherepublic bidding has failed
for two (2) consecutivetimes. To be sure, accusedSamuya
was serving his second term as mayor when the subject
procurementwas made. Thus, he knew, or ought to have
known,the stricturesregardinggovernmentprocurement.

Theevidencefor the prosecutionalsoduly establishthat
accusedSamuya signed the disbursement voucher for the
payment of the subject fertilizer despite the fact that the
designatedmunicipal accountantat that time did not signit.

Prosecutionwitness Quiwag, the designatedmunicipal
accountantat the time material to this case,testifiedthat she
did not sign the subject disbursementvoucher becausethe
Abstract of Bids or Canvassand Award were not attached
thereto and even gave advice to complete the supporting
documents. However,this advicewas not heeded. His claim
that he did not reviewthe saiddisbursementvoucheranymore
becausehe completelyrelied on the recommendationof Asoy
and the DA-RFUVII and theOfficeof RepresentativeCajesand
the BACwasnot yet constitutedat that time is patentlyfeeble.

It bears underscoringthat the recommendationof Asoy
only pertained to the mode of procurement of the subject
fertilizer. It did not refer to the unsigned disbursement
voucher. Even if it did, then mayor, accusedSamuyawas
duty-boundto ascertainthat all requirementsmust haveb~en
compliedwith before he signed the disbursementvoucher.
Obviously,he did not. He blindly signed the disbursement
voucher without the signature of Quiwagwhich undeniably

/7.

Jo
106pp. 6-7, TSN,January 10,2019
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demonstrates "a state of mind affirmatively operating with
furtive designor for ulterior purposes."

The above established facts unmistakably demonstrate
that accusedSamuyaactedwith manifestpartiality in favor of
Akame.

Third. The act of accused Samuya in approving the
procurement of the subject soil activator and the payment
therefor gaveunwarranted benefits,preferenceand advantage
to Akame.

It should be noted that there are two (2)waysby which
Section 3 (e) of RA 3019 may be violated - the first, by
causingundue injury to anyparty, including the government,
or the second,by giving any private party any unwarranted
benefit, advantage or preference.Although neither mode
constitutes a distinct offense;'?"an accusedmay be charged
under either modeor both.l08 Theuse of the disjunctive "or"
connotesthat the two (2)modesneednot be present at the
sametime. In other words, the presenceof onewould suffice
for conviction.109

The word "unwarranted" means lacking adequate or
official support; unjustified; unauthorized110 or without
justification or adequatereason.111"Advantage"meansa more
favorableor improved position or condition; benefit, profit or
gain of any kind; benefit from some course of action.J-?
"Preference" signifies priority or higher evaluation or
desirability; choiceor estimationaboveanother.113

In order to be found guilty under the secondmode, it
sufficesthat the accusedhas givenunjustified favor or benefit

?7
107Sison v. People, supra, citing Santiago v. Garchitorena, 228 SCRA214 (1993) ~
108 Sison v. People, supra, citing Cabrera v. Sandiganbayan, 441 SCRA377(2004)

109Sison v. People, supra, citing Quibal v. Sandiganbayan, 244 SCRA224 (1995)

110Sison v. People, supra, citing Webster, Third International Dictionary (Unabridged), p. 2514

111 Sison v. People, supra, citing Words and Phrases (Permanent Edition), Vol. 43-A 1978, Cumulati

Annual Pocket Part, p. 19.

112Sison v. People, supra, citing Webster, Third International Dictionary (Unabridged), p. 30.

113Sison v. People, supra, citing Webster, Third International Dictionary {Unabridged)p. 1787
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to another, in the exercise of his official, administrative or
judicial functions.114

Here, accused Samuya gave unwarranted benefit to
Akame for the supply of the soil activators because the
procurement thereof was done without a public bidding.
Assuming that direct contracting may be resorted to, accused
Samuya failed to observethe legally prescribed procedure for
the direct contracting method.

Section48.1 of IRR-Aof R.A.No.9184, the governingrules
and regulations at the time material to this case,allows direct
contracting as an alternativemodeof procurement.Thus:

Section48.1. Subjectto theprior approval of the
head of the procuring entity or his duly authorized
representative)however)and whenever justified by the
conditions provided in RA 9184. the procuring entity
may. in order to promoteeconomyand efficiency.resort
to any of the alternative methods of procurement
providedunder its IRR-Asuchas direct contracting.

However,there are mandatory steps to be observedbefore
resort to this method may bemade.The procedure for the use
of alternative method of direct contracting is found in Section
50 of the IRR-Aof R.A.No.9184which reads:

Section50. Direct contracting)as an alternative
method of procurement) does not require elaborate
bidding documents. The supplier is simply asked to
submit a price quotation or pro-forma invoice together
with the condition of sale) which may be accepted
immediatelyor after somenegotiation.

114Sison v. People supra

~

/~
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Moreover,the Manual of Procedurefor the Procurement
of Goodsand Services(Volume2) provides for the steps to be
taken in the conduct of direct contracting, to wit:

1. The method of procurement to be used shall be as
indicated in the approvedAPP.If the original modeof
procurement recommendedin the APP was Public
Bidding but cannot be ultimately pursued, the BAC,
through a resolution shall justify and recommendthe
changein the modeof procurementto be approvedby
theHead of theProcuringEntity.

2. For information purposes, the BAC, through the BAC
Secretariat, shall post the notice direct contracting in
thefollowing:

1. ThePhilOEPS;

2. The website of the Procuring Entity
and its electronicprocurementservice
provider, if any; and

3. Any conspicuousplace in thepremises
of theProcuringEntity.

3. The BAC, through the TWOand the BAC Secretariat,
prepares the Request for Quotation, technical
specificationsand draft contractin accordancewith the
procedureslaid down in this Manual, in the IRR-Aand
in thePBDs.

4. TheBAC,throughthe Secretariat,identifies the supplier
from whom thegoodswill beprocured.

5. If a pre-procurementconferenceis required or deemed
necessary,as previously discussedin this Manual, the
BAC holds such a conference.If a pre-procurement
conferenceis held, the participants should confirm the

r=
I

~
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existence of the conditions required by law for
procurementthroughDirectContracting.

6. TheBAC, through the Secretariat,posts for information
purposes the Requestfor Quotationfor a period of
seven(7) calendardaysprior to sendingthe Requestfor
Quotation,in:

1. ThePhilGEPS;

2. The website of the ProcuringEntity and its
electronicprocurement service provider, if
any; and

3. Any conspicuousplace in the premises of
theProcuringEntity.

7. The BAC sends the Request for Quotation to the
selected supplier. If necessary, negotiations are
conducted to ensure that the Governmentis able to
procure thegoodsat themost advantageousterms.

8. TheBACproceedswith contractsigningand approval.

In this case,accusedSamuyamiserablyfailed to follow
the above steps. His defensethat the BAC was not yet
constitutedat that time,is certainlypuerile.All he had to do
was to constitute the BAC and let the BAC perform its
duties definedin the law. Notably,the accusedofferednary
an explanationon why therewasan immediateneedfor the
purchaseof the saidfertilizers.

Moreover,the prosecutionevidenceshowsthat accused
Apostol is not an exclusivedistributor of J.P. BYM NBM
Food Mix Manufacturing. Tetsuo Kamekawa,Presidentof
J.P. BYM Food Mix Manufacturing and Export, issued a
sworn statementto this effect. This showsthat the earlier
certification submitted by Asoythat accusedApostol is the
sole distributor of the fertilizer in issue is false. For his

~
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non-compliancewith the abovesteps,accusedSamuyagave
Akameunwarrantedbenefit,preferenceand advantage. He
hastily purchased the soil activator from Akame without
obtainingdifferentquotationsfromother suppliersto secure
more favorable terms for the municipality of San Isidro.
This showshis manifest bias or preferencefor Akameover
the other suppliers.

WHEREFORE, the Court finds accused Requillo
Suaybaguio Samuya GUILTY BEYOND REASONABLE
DOUBT of violation of Section3 (e) of R.A. No. 3019, as
amended.Accordingly,he is herebysentencedto suffer the
indeterminatepenalty of imprisonmentof six (6)years and
one(1)month, asminimum, to ten (10)years,asmaximum,
and to suffer perpetualdisqualificationfrom holding public
office.

Sincethe Court has not acquiredjurisdiction overthe
person of accused EDILBERTOL. APOSTOLbecausehe
remains at-large, the case against him is hereby ordered
archived, the same to be revivedupon his arrest. Let an
alias warrant of arrestbe issuedagainstthe saidaccused.

SOORDERED.

QuezonCity, MetroManila.

~OM~Fr
Presiding.Justice
Chairperson

WE CONCUR:

BERN'L.TO R. FERNANDEZ - '« ~~. ~I

As~odateJustice
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ATTESTATION

I attest that the conclusionsin the aboveDecisionwere
reachedin consultation beforethe casewas assignedto the
writer of the opinionof the Court'sDivision.

.MPAROM.~
PresidingJus

Chairperson,Third Division

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the Constitution,
and the Division Chairperson's Attestation, it is hereby
certified that the conclusions in the above Decision were
reachedin consultation beforethe casewas assignedto the
writer of the opinionof the Court'sDivision.

PARO~
Presiding
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